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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KIMBERLY MCCAIN,
Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 13-1589RDM)
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al.

Defendants

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Kimberly McCainpleaded guilty to driving while intoxicated based on evidence
that the Districof Columbialater admitted was flawed. Three years after receiving notice of the
flawed evidence, she commenced this action against the District of Columbidfiaeds®evin
King and RichardMoats (collectively “Defendants”), eventually allegioigims for negligence,
gross negligence, negligent supervision, intentional infliction of emotionalstisaed violation
of her constitutional rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Judge Kessler of this Court has
previously dismissed McCain'’s thréeC -law claims on the ground that she failed to provide
the Mayor of the District of Columbia with timely notice of thosarals, as required by D.C.
Code sectiori2-309. Dkt. 15 (Oct. 6, 2015 Orfledudge Kessler, however, denied
Defendants’ motion to dismiss McCain’s fourth claim, which alleged a fecknae of action
and was thus not subject to the District’s notification requiremient.

Two motions are presently before the Court. Fbsfendants move for summary
judgment on the remainder of the action on grounds of judicial estoppel. Dkt. 30. In garticul
they note that, prior to commencing this suit, McCain filed for bankruptcy and edciv

discharge of her debts, yet she failedlisclose the claims asserted in this action as contingent
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assets, as she was required to do. Having represented to the bankruptcy court thatathe di
possess anfcontingent and unliquidated claims of [any] nature,” Dkt. 30-6 atHDistrict
aserts that McCain is estopped from now taking a contrary position before this CocohdSe
McCain seeks reconsideration of Judge Kessler's deaissmnissing her D.Caw claims,
arguing that the notice requirement contained in D.C. Gedgonl12-309was satisfied because
the Metropolitan Police Department prepared a report that provide sufficiere abMcCain’s
claims. Dkt. 17.

For the reasons explained below, the Court concludes that it lacks jurisdiction over this
matter. It will accordinglydismiss the amended complaint and deny both pending motions as
moot.

|. BACKGROUND

McCainwas arrested on July 12, 2009, for drunk driving after fadirsgries ofield
sobriety tests SeeDkt. 16 at 2. She waaken to a “policestation,” wherelse was twice
tested for alcohol using a breathalyr@chine calledhe Intoxilyzer 5000EN (“Intoxilyzer”).

Id. The first test showed that McCain had 0.34 grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath; the
second test indicatexhe had 0.37 gramsd. Bothresults were more than four times the legal
limit. Id. at 2-3. The District charged her with three criminal offenses: driving while
intoxicated (“DW1"); driving under the influence (“DUI");ral operating while impaired

(“OWI"). Id. at 3. Her attornegdvised her that she could not successfully challéregessults

of the Intoxilyzer test in court, and so McCain ple@duilty to the DWI charge-the most

serious of the three charges—on October 1, 200t 4. She was sentenced a week later to
tendays in jail, twentyeight days in a residential alcohol treatment program, $400 in fees and

fines, and one year of supervised probatilch. She was later fired from her job with the D.C.



Department of Fire and Emergency Medical Services, allegedly as a dirdicotésuguilty
plea Dkt. 1-2 at 15 (Amended Compl.  80).

Onor around July 26, 201@fter McCain had served her sentence, she anattoeney
Charles Szlenkaeceived detterfrom the District’'s Office of the Attorne§eneral (“OAG
letter”) providing notice that the Intoxilyzer machine used to test her breath alcohdhéelvebt
been properly maintained oalibrated. SeeDkt. 30-5(letter); see alsdkt. 7 at 11 (McCain
Decl. 12) (acknowledging receipt of letter)The letter explainethat the District discovered the
problem in February 2010, atitht once informed, the Office of the Attorney General
“immediately stopped relying upon tftbe] Intoxilyzer results until the scope and cause of the
problem were deterined.” Dkt. 305 at 1 According to the letter “calibration procedure”
undertaken in September 2008®fficer Kelvin King, thelongtime head of the Alcohol
Enforcement Prograror the District's Metropolitan Police Department (“MPDRad led to the
instruments deficienciesId. The letterdid not admit any wrongdoingsserting instead that
Officer King “worked closely with the manufacturer who provided assistand instructions as
to how to calibrate the instrumenthat he “received detailed itnsctions from the
manufacturet and that he serviced the machine “with no malicious intent to purposefidlst aff
the instruments.”ld. The letter also represented that the District maintained a log of test results
for the Intoxilyzer and that this “documentation” has “always been made availatdéetadants
when requested.1d. at 2. The letter concluded by noting that the District had decided to use a
different devce to assess impaired drivigging forward and that OAG had decided to stop
relying on results from MPD Intoxilyzerseven those obtained before the calibration issue or

after the instruments were-certified. Id. The OAG notice did not explain to McCain what



options she had in light of this revelationt simplystatedthat the notice was being provided to
Szlenkerso he couldtake whatever action [heleemedappropriate.”ld. at 1.

Years passed after McCaieceived this letter. In the meantinségfiled a petition for
voluntary Chapter 7 bankruptcy on December 21, 2012, ibi8eBankruptcy Court for the
District of Maryland. SeeDkt. 30-6. In the Summary of Schedules, sfmrded$161,526.00 in
total assetsand $176,415.97 in total liabilitiesd. at 6. Relevant herg'Schedule B” of the
petition instructed McCain to list “contingent and unliquidated claims of eveuyaiatot
already disclosed, and McCain indicatadder the penalty of perjury, that she had nddeat
10, 34. On June 3, 2013, the bankruptcy court issued ar Grdnting Discharge of Debtor
SeeDkt. 30-7. Three days later, the bankruptcy court issued its final dbatabe estate had
been “fully administered” and closed the caSeeDkt. 30-8.

On July 24, 2013—Iless than two months after the bankruptcyclosss—McCainfiled
suitin D.C. Superior Couragainsthe District of Columbia, Officer King, and Offic&ichard
Moats (he officerwho administered her breath alcobedt) seeking damages foarm related
to her arrest and conviction for drinking and drivir@eeDkt. 1-2at 19-30 (Compl.). The
decision to filehad been made entirely by McCain's cur@tdrney, Frederic Schwartz, Jr.,
whom McCain had retaingd pursue litigation relating to the loss of her job. Dkt. 39-3 at 1
(McCain Decl. 1 6, 8); Dkt. 394 at 12 (Schwartz Decl. 11, 9). Strikingly, Schwartz did not
consult with McCain prior to filingon her behajfand McCain remained ignorant of this case
until November 14, 2013, some four mon#fier filing. Dkt. 393 at 1 (McCain Decl. 8); Dkt.
394 at 12 (Schwartz Decl. 19, 10). Schwartz explains that, although he had known #eut
OAG letterto McCain, he postponed investigatitng caseuntil theweek before the statute of

limitationswas seto expire Dkt. 39-4 at 1$chwartz Decl. 1$-5). Only then did he review



the complaints filed bysimilarly situated plaintiffs” and realize “the enormity of the error and
the culpability of the defendants in relatiokcCain]’s conviction,” which convincedim to
bring the cae. Id. at 1-2 (Schwartz Decl. 3—-§. Schwartz further explains that he was
unaware of McCain’s bankruptcy proceedings “ujtd was]advised by counsel for the
defendants on the day their motion for summary judgment was fildd(Schwartz Decl. ®).

On September 20, 2013, Schwartz filed an amended complaif¢@ain’s behalf Dkt.
1 at 2 seeDkt. 1-2 at 418 (Am. Compl.). Theamendedomplaintcontainedour counts. First,
it alleged thaboth the Dstrict and theéwo officer defendantsedigently “fail[ed] to ensureas
required by statutehat the breath test equipment ubgdhe MPD to generate evidence for use
in DWI prosecutions was properly calibrated and tested.” Dktatlt2 (Am. Compl. 1 68
Second, it alleged that ti¥strict was liable for negligent supervision because it “fail[ed] to
properly train and/or supervise Officer King and Officer Moats in théredion, testing and use
of the District’s breath test machinedd. at 14 (Am. Compl. {1 75). Third,alleged that the
two officersintentionally inflicted emotional distress upon McCain by providdngtrict
prosecutors with false information tithe officersknew or should have known would lead to a
DWI conviction. Id. at 15-16 Am. Compl. 1 81-84 Fourth, italleged that althree
Defendantsnfringed McCain’s rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth
Amendments to the.S. Constitution, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 198RI. at 16-17 (Am.
Compl. 11 85-95). Defendammmoved the case this Court on October 17, 201seDkt. 1,
and filed aimely motion to dismissseeDkt. 4.

On December 6, 2015,hile the motion to dismissaspending, McCain filed a motion
in the Superior Court to withdraw her guilty plea to DWI anddbaside theonviction. See

Dkt. 16 at 5. The Superior Court granted that motion ramstated all three original charges



against herld. After a bench trial, the prosecution dropped the DWI and OUI charges, and a
magistrate judge found McCain guilty of DUI on July 24, 20Idl.at 5-6.

On October 6, 2014, Judge Kessler granted in part and denied in part Defendants’ motion
to dismiss.Id. at 17. With respect to thérst three counts of the complaint, easfrwhich
allegeda commonlaw tort, she concluded that McCain had failed to comuiyr D.C. Code
section12-309, which requirgslaintiffs, as a prerequisite to sui,provide notice to the
Mayor’s office within six months of an alleged injurid. at 8. Of particular relevance here,
Judge Kessler rejected McCain’s argument that her case fell within the’staariveout, which
provides that “[a] report in writing by the [MPD], in the regular cowfséuty is a sufficient
notice under this section,” D.C. Code 8§ 12-3&%Dkt. 16at 9-13. It is that aspect of Judge
Kessler’'s decision that McCain now asks the Court to reconstdeiDkt. 17. As to the fourth
count, alleging an action under 8 1983, Judge Kessler denied the District's motion ss.dismi
See idDkt. 16 at 13-17. All paris agreed that tH2.C. Code’s notice provision does not apply
to actions under 8983, and Judge Kessler rejected Defendants’ argument that the claim was
barred by the Supreme Court’s decisiofdgck v. Humphrey612 U.S. 477 (1994)SeeDkt. 16
at13-17.

The case was reassigned to the undersigned Judge on November 18n2B&4midst
of discovery, Defendants learned of McCain’s bankruptcy case, and now move for gummar
judgment on that basis. In particular, tleegue that McCain’s claisarebarred by the doctrine
of judicial estoppel because dladed todisclosein her bankruptcy petition or during those

proceedings, as she was required to do, thahatiex potential civil action.



[I. ANALYSIS

Although not raised by either party, the Court has “an independent duty to satify [it
of [its] Article Il jurisdiction” before considering the pending motio&ec. PrivacyInfo. Cent.
v.FAA 821 F.3d 39, 41 n.2 (D.C. Cir. 2016). That inquiry requlmasthe Courtonsider
whether the plaintiff can meet the “irreducible constitutional minimum” requiremeritgiofe
lIl standing,Lujan v.Defs.of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992), by identifying, among other
things,some cognizablbasis for asserting “a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy,”
Warth v. Seldind422 U.S. 490, 498-99 (1975) (internal quotation mark omitted) (quB&kegr
v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 204 (1962)). In the present context, this question overlaps with—but is
distinct from—the issues raised by Defendants’ judicial estoppel argument.

As explained above, McCain’s claims to relief, if any, arose in 2009, when she wa
prosecuted and convicted of driving while intoxicated based on admittedly flawedaaideine
was told about the flawed evidence approximatelyyaas later, when she aheér attorney
received notification from the Officef the D.C. Attorney General. Although her current
attorney asserts thae only “discovered the enormity of the [MPDé&ror and the culpability of
thedefendants in relation téfcCain|’s conviction” shortly before he filed suit in 2013, Dkt. 39-
4 at 1 (Schwartz Decl. 1%3), there is no dispute that McCain’s causes of action, if any, existed
at the time she filed h&hapter 7 bankruptcy petition on December 21, 2012, Dkt. 30e8.is
there anydisputethat McCain was required to disclose in that petiibrof her assets, including
“contingent and unliquidated claims of every natur@, at 10,and that she faiteto disclose her
present claims In briefing Defendants’ motion for summary judgment, the parties devote most
of their attention to whether McCain deliberately omitted the required infanmavhether she

was otherwise at fault, and whether the Couousthexercise its discretion to dismiss the



amended complaint. None of those questions, however, bears on the standing inquiry. That
inquiry, instead, turns on whether any claims that may exist againstdaeits belong to
McCain or to the bankruptcy eseé.

As the Court of Appeals has observed, “[i]n the context of [Chapter 7] bankruptcy
proceedings, it is well understood that ‘a trustee, as the representativéoahkineptcy estate, is
the real party in interest, and is the only party with standing to prosecute caastsrof
belongng to the estate once the bankruptcy petition has been fildtbSes v. Howardniv.
Hosp, 606 F.3d 789, 795 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (quotkikgne v. Nat’l Union Fire Ins. Cp535 F.3d
380, 385 (5th Cir. 2008) (per curidm As aresult, “[g]enerally speaking, a ppetition cause of
action is the property of the Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate, and only the trustee in bariasiptcy
standing to pursue it.1d. (alteration in original{quotingParker v. Wendy'’s Int’l, In¢365 F.3d
1268, 1272 (11th Cir. 2004)). Significantly, tinansfer ofall suchinteress to the bankruptcy
estateoccursregardlessof whether the debtor identifies the pre-petition cause of acti@ampn
of the required schedules; inde#t failure ofa debtor “to list an interest on a bankruptcy
schedule leaves that interest in the bankruptcy estBtrker, 365 F.3d at 127%ee alsdKane
535 F.3d at 385¢/reugdenhill v. Navistar Int’l Transp. G®50 F.2d 524, 525-26 (8th Cir.
1991);Mobility Sys. & Equip. Co. v. United StateS1 Fed. Cl. 233, 236 (Fed. Cl. 2001). Thus,
upon the commencement of a Chapter 7 proceeding, “all legal or equitable intetiestdeaiftor
in property” become interests of the estate, 11 U.S.C. 8§ 541(a)(1)—including undisclosed,
potential causes of action like McCain’s.

The estate’s interest in this lawsuit, moreover, did not revert back to McCanmthehe
bankruptcy proceedings concluded. Here, again, the bankruptcy code is ekplicé.case of a

“scheduled” claimthat is,a claimwhich hasbeen disclosed to the bankruptcy court), the trustee



may knowingly decline to pursue it which point the cause of action may be treated as
“abandoned to the debtor.” 11 U.S.C. 8 554¢), Under those circumstancésg interest
reverts tathe debtorwhomaythen have standing to pursue the pegition claim in post
petition litigation. Moses 606 F.3d at 795. But, “[u]nless the [bankruptcy] court orders
otherwise, property of the estate that is not abandoneirianner prescribad § 554 “and that
is not administered in tieankruptcy proceedinggmains property of the estdte§ 554(d).
Thus, because unscheduled claims are neither “abandoned” nor “administereceirtagywith
the estate even after the close of the c&seker, 365 F.3d at 1272.

This does not mean that an unscheduled cause of actiendssarilyost when the
bankruptcy is administered and the case is closed. Rathe&iébtor fails to schedule an asset,
and the trustee later dsvers it, the trustee mgseek to]reopen the bankruptcy case to
administer the asset on behalf of the creditoksahe 535 F.3d at 385; Gollier on Bankruptcy
1 350.03[1] (Alan N. Resnick & Henry J. Sommer eds., 2ath(“[I]t is clear that assets that are
not properly disclosed on the schedules are not abandoned and remain property of tthaestate
can be administered if the case is reopened.”).

In light of these principles, the Court concludes that McCain lacks standing and that,
unless the bankruptcy trustee seeks to reopen the bankrupt@ndaseeks leave to be
substituted herein as the real party in interest, the case must be dismisgaak fof jurisdiction.
All of the claims asserted in this cam®se beajre McCain filed her bankruptcy petition and
thus, to the extent they are of any value, thegameproperty of the bankruptcy estate. There is
no evidence, moreover, that the trustee abandoned those claims, and, indeed, McCain’s
contention that both stend her lawyer were unawatet she had a basis to bring suit until after

the bankruptcy was administered would be difficult to square with the contemditttié trustee



was aware of those samkaims and knowingly abandoned them. The equitable considerations
that McCain has raisad opposition to Defendants’ judicial estoppel defense do not affect this
conclusion. A failure of diligence in investigating whether Defendants’ comdacided a basis
for suit has nothing to do with whether the relevanises of action belong to McCain or are
now the property of the bankruptcy estate.

In order to provide the bankruptcy trustee with an opportunity to determine whetleer ther
is a legal basis and sufficient cause to seek to reopdratik@uptcyestate antb seek leave to
be substituted as the real party in interest in this actemParker365 F.3d at 1270, the Court
will stay its decision fothirty days. The Court willalso directhat McCain promptly provide a
copy of this decision to the bankruptcy trustee. Finally, in light of the Court’s carchhsit it
lacks jurisdiction, the Court will deny both pending motions as moot.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated abaves Court will dismiss the amended complaint for lack of

jurisdiction and will @nyDefendants’ ration for summary judgment, Dkt. 30, akttCain’s

motion for reconsideration, Dkt. 17, as mootséparate order will issue.

/s/ Randolph D. Moss
RANDOLPH D. MOSS
United States District Judge

Date: September, 2016
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